IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

THOMAS V. CAPALDO

CASE NO. 86,390

Petitioner

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent

FILED
SID J. WHITE
JAN 81 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Cited Deputy Stork

AMENDED

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JOHN W. TANNER, P.A. Florida Bar No. 0116174 630 North Wild Olive Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32118

Attorney For Petitioner

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner was convicted of endeavoring to purchase stolen property for meeting with an undercover agent to go to another location to look at and perhaps purchase certain property described to Petitioner in an earlier telephone conversation with the agent.

The agent initiated the call and he created an imaginary transaction by offering to sell non-existent property. the agent never told Petitioner that the merchandise was stolen nor did he even hit that the property was not legitimate.

The agent admitted that his purpose in calling Petitioner three times that morning, asking him to meet to go look at the merchandise, was to "set-up" Petitioner.

The Statute seeks to punish the act of endeavoring to buy stolen property with the intent to re-sell it. Proof of the intent to reselling the merchandise is essential for a conviction. <u>Burch v. State</u>, 602 So.2d (5th DCA, 1992), <u>Adkins v. State</u>, 576 So.2d 392 (1st DCA, 1991)

819.019. Dealing in stolen property.

(1) Any person who traffics in, or endeavors to traffic in, property that he knows or should know was stolen shall be guilty of a felony of the second degree, punishable as provided in ss775.082, 775.083 and 775.084.

Part of the corpus delicti for dealing in stolen property is knowledge at the time of purchase that the property is stolen.

Newberry v. State, 442 So.2d 334 (1983); State v. Graham, 238 So.2d 618 (1970)

Surely, the corpus delicti also requires that the subject

property must exist somewhere other than in the imaginative mind of an entrapping police agent. without any "stolen" property to examine and purchase or refuse to purchase an innnocent but interested citizen could be easily entrapped and convicted for merely considering a purchase of non-existent property.

Respectfully, this Court should hold there there must be at least some property in existence before a citizen can be convicted of knowing that the merchandise is stolen and endeavoring to purchase it for resale.

This Court has held that even a consumated purchase of admittedly stolen merchandize will nto support a conviction under F.S. 812.09(1).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 9, 1990, Petitioner, THOMAS V. CAPALDO, was arrested. The Statewide Prosecutor charged Petitioner and four other codefendants in a ten count Information alleging RICO, conspiracy, and dealing in stolen property crimes.

On February 16, 1993, Petitioner was first tried for the offense for which he was ultimately convicted, with two codefendants. The trial judge entered a judgment of acquittal as to the RICO and conspiracy charges; and, granted Petitioner a severance from the co-defendants and mistried the remaining two counts of dealing in stolen property.

On April 5, 1993, Petition was retried. He was acquitted of one count and the trial judge again mistried the charge of dealing

in stolen property.

On June 23, 1993, at Petitioner's third trial, he was found guilty by a jury of dealing in stolen property, the case before this court.

On April 28, 1995, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed Petitioner's conviction and certified the following question to this court:

"IS IT NECESSARY TO PROVE THE <u>EXISTENCE</u> OF STOLEN PROPERTY IN ORDER TO CONVICT UNDER 812.019(1), FLORIDA STATUTES, 1993"? (Emphasis Supplied)

In the appeals court on August 31, 1995, Petitioner filed Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of this court in the Fifth District Court of Appeal. Petitioner was seeking this court's review of the certified question.

On September 12, 1995, this court, on it's own motion, dismissed Petitioner's notice, subject to reinstatement, because the notice was not timely filed.

On September 27, 1995, Petitioner filed his Motion To Allow Delayed Appeal And Reinstate Cause.

On January 4, 1996, this court granted Petitioner's Motion To Allow Delayed Appeal And Reinstate Cause and ordered Petitioner to filed his brief on the merits on or before January 29, 1996. This is Petitioner's brief.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Fifth DCA Chief Judge Harris' synopsis of the facts and the issue follows. Please note, comments in parenthesis by counsel.

"The state was conducting an investigation concerning

suspected dealing in stolen property by Ghazi Osta, Jose Zaetar and Stephen Morris when Thomas V. Capaldo wandered onto the scene. Capaldo happened into Osta's pawn shop while an undercover officer was attempting to set up a sting operation. Osta introduced Capaldo to the undercover officer and later described him as being 'cool'. the next day, the officer showed Capaldo electronics merchandise that, although not available to Capaldo because it had already been "sold", was a sample of the type of merchandise that the officer represented might be available to him later. Capaldo stated that he would like to buy similar electronics in the future and that he could be contacted 'through Osta'.

Subsequently and through Osta, the undercover officer sold a shipment of cigarettes to Capaldo at a price which suggested that the cigarettes were stolen." (*The trial judge entered a judgment of acquittal on that transaction in the second trial V9/P252, 343) "During that transaction, Capaldo and the officer agreed that Osta would no longer be a part of their dealings. Shortly thereafter," (*more than 3 months later), "the officer called Capaldo and advised him that electronic merchandise similar to that which he had been shown was again available. In fact, no such merchandise When Capaldo showed up to purchase the imaginary merchandise," (*Petitioner only intended to meet the officer who was to take Petitioner to an imaginary place to see the imaginary merchandise and then decide if he wanted to buy any of the merchandise. V10/P52-55, 120-121; V12/P355-356), "he was arrested for violation of section 9812.019(1) -- Dealing in Stolen Property. He appeals his conviction of that charge; we affirm. (Fifth DCA Opinion, Page 2) (*NOTE - Dates and comments added by Petitioner's

counsel)

In September, 1988, law enforcement agents developed evidence that Osta, a pawn shop owner, was trafficking in stolen property. Undercover agent Bisland befriended Osta and began a series of undercover "stings" on Osta and his associates. (V3/P468)

On March 20, 1990, Bisland was at Osta's pawn shop discussing their illegal dealings (V3/P276, 282) when Petitioner and his wife coincidentally entered the shop. (V10/P26-30) Petitioner was not a party to the earlier conversation. Osta and Bisland asked Petitioner and his wife if they would be "available for a deal" the next day. (V10/P26-30) Neither Bisland nor Osta told Petitioner that Bisland was dealing in stolen merchandize. (V10/P30, 36, 104, 106, 111, 115, 117, 118, 334,335) Osta asked Bisland not to get Petitioner into trouble and told Bisland that he should not tell Petitioner that the property was stolen or hot. (V6/P 106; V10/P110) Osta was Bisland's primary target. (V3/P467-472, V6/P53-88, V10/P25, 82, 87)

Agent Bisland admitted that he had no reason to believe that Petitioner was ever engaged in any criminal activity whatsoever before he, Bisland, began to offer to sell Petitioner electronics. (V6/P139, V10/P20-21, 87, 123, 124, 127, 128) Yet, from the first day they met, Bisland targeted Petitioner for prosecution. (V10/P30)

Bisland set up a legitimate-looking warehouse and invited Petitioner and his wife to look at some electronics. (V10/P30-33, 36, 105-108, 334-337) On March 21, 1990, Bisland offered to obtain similar merchandize for Petitioner in the future at a good price but he never told Petitioner that the merchandize was hot or

stolen. (V10/P37, 38, 104, 106, 334-337)

As Petitioner was leaving Bisland's business, the agent handed him a VCR and asked him to give it to Osta as a gift. That became the basis for one of the counts against Petitioner and his wife for "dealing in stolen property". (V6/P95, 96,. 139, 140 and V3/P281, 472) Bisland admitted that his purpose in inviting Petitioner to his warehouse was to wet his appetite for future stings. Bisland, gave the appearance of a clean-cut, legitimate businessman, (V12/P334) and he took Petitioner to his warehouse located among other open businesses with a furnished front office and all of the indicia of an operating legitimate business. (V10/P32, 33, 106, 108, 334-337) The electronics that Bisland showed Petitioner were packaged in legitimate factory boxes with serial numbers and documentation. (V12/P334-337)

Although Agent Bisland engaged in cryptic hints that he intended to serve as warnings to be used at trial to prove guilt, Petitioner did not understand that Bisland was hinting that those goods were stolen. (V6/P140-143; V10/P36-38, 108, 339-341) Petitioner had bought legitimate merchandize under similar circumstances many times in the past. (V12/P339-341)

On March 30, 1990, Petitioner and his wife were invited to Bisland's warehouse where they were surprised to find that they were being offered cigarettes not electronics. At first Petitioner declined the offer but ultimately purchased cigarettes for his own consumption. (V6/P99, 100, 101) Petitioner verified that the cigarettes carried a legitimate Florida tag stamp and demanded a written receipt for the transaction. At that point agent Bisland and Petitioner agreed to cut Osta out of any future dealings and

they exchanged phone numbers to facilitate direct contact for future transactions. (V6/P103, 104; V10/P43, 44, 129)

On April 5, 1993, Petitioner's second jury trial ended with a judgment of acquittal on the charge that he was dealing in stolen cigarettes and a mistrial on the remaining count of dealing in stolen property. (V9/P252, 343)

Agent Bisland called Petitioner at least ten times and contacted Osta on numerous occasions to inquire about dealing with or to send messages to Petitioner concerning the sale of property. Bisland had more than twenty contacts aimed at entrapping Petitioner. (V6/P96-99, 105, 106, 108, 115, 117, 118, 120, 126; V10/P28, 32, 39, 41, 43, 45, 47-51)

On April 9, 1990, Bisland set up a meeting with Petitioner, that Petitioner cancelled but the agent continued in his telephone efforts to induce Petitioner to accept his offers of merchandize. (V6/P105, 106, 108; V10/P43-47)

On July 9, 1990, long after Osta was out of the picture, Bisland awakened Petitioner at his home with a phone call. Bisland told Petitioner that he was coming to town with some electronics and wanted to know if Petitioner was "interested". In a second phone call that morning Bisland read a fictitious list of "non-existent" electronics, and quoted Petitioner a price of \$9,800.00, approximately one-third retail. During the second call, Bisland told Petitioner that "if he wasn't interested in all of it" he would sell it to someone else. (V10/P52-54)

At 10:30 a.m., Bisland made his third call to Petitioner's home to set up the meeting. Petitioner asked if he should meet Bisland at his place of business. Bisland told him that he had

moved his business to Ormond Beach and that Petitioner should meet him in a park from where Bisland would lead him to the new place of business and show him the merchandise. (V10/P54, 55) Bisland admitted that the sole purpose of those phone calls were to "set up" Petitioner. (V10/P120-126)

Petitioner only said that he was "interested" and agreed to meet Bisland to examine, and intended to possibly negotiate, a purchase of some of the merchandise. (V10/P52-54, 120-121; V12/P355-356)

Petitioner testified, at his trial, that if agent Bisland had taken him to his new place of business (which did not exist) to inspect the electronics (also non-existent) that, before purchasing anything, he would have:

- 1. Inspected the merchandise for defects;
- Tried to determine if it had been repackaged;
- Verified that the merchandise was serial numbered; and that the numbers on the packaging boxes matched the numbers on the merchandise;
- 4. Assessed the condition of the electronics;
- 5. Determined whether the factory warranties were included;
- 6. Verified Bisland's also known as Burton's source for the merchandise;
- 7. Examined the documentation, proving the merchandise was legitimate;
- 8. Obtained a written receipt from "burton"; and
- 9. Verified "Burton's" identification. (V12/P356-359)

Petitioner made a honest living by buying legitimate merchandise and reselling it. (V12/P333, 361)

Petitioner was immediately arrested upon arriving at the park and never had the opportunity to decline to purchase the merchandise if Bisland could not authenticate its legitimacy. (V10/P59)

The State's "proof" that Petitioner knew that the imaginary

electronics were stolen rested entirely upon some vague, innocuous comments Bisland made three and one-half months earlier on March 21, 1990, about some other merchandise. (V6/P140, 141) No such 'hints" were given to Petitioner concerning the imaginary property which was the subject of the July 9th, phone calls and meeting which lead to Petitioner's arrest and conviction.

ARGUMENT

Judge Cowart's dissent in <u>Lamar v. Keesee</u>, 512 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 5th DCA, 1987) commenting on that court's decision holding that the crime of endeavoring to traffic in stolen property does not require that the property be stolen said:

"The average laymen is probably hard pressed to understand how one can be convicted of dealing in stolen property if the property is not stolen and why, if the person does not commit a completed crime because the property was not stolen, he can be convicted of trying ('attempting' or 'endeavoring') to do something that is legally or physically impossible for him to do."

Lamar, 512 So.2d at 1068

Judge Cowart's observation is certainly cogent. the average layman would be even more pressed to understand how one could be convicted of dealing in stolen property if the property never even existed and that the conviction could be based upon his simply agreeing to look at the property, something that is legally and physically impossible for him to do, with the intention of deciding whether or not to buy it. Page five of the Fifth DCA opinion, in this case, cites this court as having upheld the constitutionality of Section 812.019(1), and quotes this Court:

"The terms 'traffic' and 'stolen property' are defined in

section 812.012(6) and (7), from which it is clear that the <u>statute</u> applies only to certain acts relating to the disposition of 'property that has been the subject of any criminally wrongful taking.' (Emphasis added).

(NOTE - Fifth DCA, citation of authority, <u>Thomas</u>, at 370 So.2d 1142 is in error)

Where ever the Fifth DCA found this Court's language mistakenly attributed to the case found at 370 So.2d 1142, the quote does appear to be applicable. In construing Section 812.019(1), this court held that statute applied "only to certain acts related to this disposition of 'property that has been the subject of any criminal wrongful taking'" (Fifth DCA opinion, page 5, source unknown)

In the instant case, the property never existed and was a creation of agent Bisland's mind; so, it certainly could not have been the subject of any "criminally wrongfully taking" or of any criminal trafficking in such non-existent property.

There is no evidence that Petitioner knew or should have known that the imaginary merchandise that Bisland was going to show him at his imaginary place of business on July 9th, was stolen. (V12/P359)

If Section 812.019(1), Dealing in Stolen Property, makes it a crime for a citizen to agreed to meet and undercover agent to look at merchandise and the citizen is arrested before he has an opportunity to look at the merchandise, verify the legitimate origin of the goods and make a decision to either purchase or not purchase, any citizen could be the victim of an over zealous law enforcement officer and prosecutor. Particularly when the agent tragets the citizen who admittedly had no prior criminal record and who the agent had no reason to believe was previously dealing in

stolen property. (V6/P139; V10/P123, 127,128)

The jury's determination that petitioner knew or should have known the merchandise was stolen was undoubtedly based upon the numerous hearsay discussions between Osta, who talked about his own illegal transactions, and Bisland who played out the charade of being a dealer in stolen property. (V10/P28-31,39-41, 103-106) Petitioner was not present for any of those discussions nor is there any evidence that the content of those discussions were conveyed to him by either Osta or Bisland.

Yet, the Fifth DCA determined that the numerous hearsay discussions between Osta and Bisland, although clearly inadmissible and unquestionably intended "to show that Capaldo believed that the merchandise was stolen were harmless." The Fifth DCA said:

"Capaldo raises two points that warrant discussion. First he contends the the court improperly admitted" (*at lease five) "hearsay statements made by Osta" (*and by agent Bisland to Osta), "on the basis of the coconspirator exception to the hearsay exclusion. Although the evidence supports the finding that a conspiracy to deal in stolen property did exist for a period of time and that the statements in question were made during that conspiracy, it is clear that the conspiracy between Osta and Capaldo had ended" (*more than 3 months) "prior to the offense charged in this information.

We agree with Capaldo that section 90.803(18)(3), Florida Statutes (1993), does not permit statements made during a conspiracy to commit one crime to be admitted in prosecution for an entirely different offense not involving the conspiracy. See <u>Usher v. State</u>, 642 So.2d 29 (Fla.2d DCA 1994). We find, however, that the error was harmless under the facts of this case. The purpose of these statements" (*by Osta and agent Bisland to each other) "was to show that Capaldo believed that the merchandise was stolen." (*obviously not harmless, emphasis supplied) "We find that even without the admission of the hearsay statements, the evidence of Capaldo's intent to purchase stolen property was overwhelming."

(Fifth DCA opinion page 2 and 3)
(NOTE - Facts and comments added by Petitioner's counsel)

An examination of the entire trial record, including a close examination of the permissible evidence on which the jury could have legitimately relied, and, in addition and even closer examination of the impermissible hearsay statements which might have possibly influenced the jury verdict, clearly shows that the harmless error test has not been met. (V10/P28-31, 103-106) State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129, at 1135 (Fla. 1986)

Petitioner was entrapped by an over zealous agent and the prosecutiobn relied upon inadmissible hearsay to convince the jury that Petitioner knew or should have known that the non-existent property that he was considering purchasing at the imaginary location was stolen.

If this court does not make it clear that Section 812.019(1), Dealing in Stolen Property, does not permit prosecutions based upon imaginary merchandise, there will be no limit to the inventiveness of over zealous law enforcement officers to create crimes out of thin air with the real danger, as in this case, of entrapping otherwise innocent citizens into thinking about illegal conduct and convicting them for it.

Aren't there enough real crimes being committed without the Florida Department of Law Enforcement using their imagination and a fantasy to entrap and convict a citizen?

CONCLUSION

Petitioner respectfully urges this Court to answer the question certified by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the affirmative. And, to at least require the existence of "stolen

property" which can be observed and either accepted or rejected by the targeted citizen who might, as in this case, demand authenication of the legitimacy of the property before actually consumating the transaction.