IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 86,390

THOMAS V. CAPALDO,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

FILED SID J. WHITE FEB 19 1996 GLERK, SUPREME COURT Cite Deputy Clerk

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

GEORGINA JIMENEZ-OROSA

Senior Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief Florida Bar No. 441510

MICHELLE A. KONIG

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar Number 0946966 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard Suite 300 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 688-7759 Facsimile: (407) 688-7771

Counsel for Respondent

TABLE OF CITATIONS

<u>CASES</u>

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Defendant and Respondent was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Volusia County, Florida. Petitioner was the Appellant and Respondent was the Appellee in the Fifth District Court of Appeal. In this brief, the parties shall be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court of Appeal except that Respondent may also be referred to as the State.

References to the Appendix attached to this brief will be by use of the symbol "A."

All emphasis in this brief is supplied by Respondent unless otherwise indicated.

Statement of Case and Facts

Respondent does accept Petitioner's statement of the case, for purposes of this appeal. However, Respondent cannot accept the statement of facts provided by Petitioner, as, it is slanted and argumentative, and consists primarily of Petitioner's own defense which was wholly rejected by the jury as well as the Fifth District Court of Appeal. Respondent will rely on the facts recited by the Fifth District Court in its opinion, Exhibit A, supplemented as follows:

At the trial which resulted in Petitioner's conviction, Detective Bisland testified that when he was talking to Gus Osta, about tax numbers, Petitioner, who he never met, injected himself into the conversation with the statement "the less you tell them, the less you have to pay." (V10 26). Subsequently, Osta introduced Petitioner and said he was a good guy (V10 22).

Bisland informed Osta that he had electronics for sale that had been hijacked from a truck. Osta responded that serial numbers were tough and they should talk to Petitioner about it (V10 28). Osta asked Petitioner if he was available for a deal the next day (V10 29).

According to Bisland, Bisland and Osta conversed about a possible deal:

[Osta] told me what we were going to do was I would sell property to Tom. Tom had a tax number. And Tom could turn around -- would turn around and sell it to Mr. Osta, the owner of the pawn shop, which would legitimize the merchandise when he was the ultimate recipient of it. He told me Tom was a good guy, he had a lot of cash. I told him that I was a bit nervous doing business with him because I did not know him.

(V10 31).

The Capaldos arrived to view the electronics without Osta. Bisland showed them 15 TV's, 20 VCR's, and 10 microwaves, worth \$20,000 (V10 33). The detective said his only advise to them was not to move it in Miami, and what they did with the serial numbers was their business (V10 36). Petitioner responded "yeah, you like to know where you're dealing from." (V10 38).

Bisland did not come out and say the word "stolen" because he felt that it would have revealed his identity as a police officer (V10 36). Petitioner wanted to buy the equipment for \$6800 but Bisland told him it was not available (V10 37).

Petitioner stated that he was interested in "anything he could make a buck on. He liked electronics because they were impulse items and he could market and sell them, turn them over quick." (V10 38). Mrs. Capaldo told Bisland that when he got a load in, he

should contact them through Osta (V10 38).

Later Osta asked Bisland why he did not sell the electronics to Petitioner (V10 39).

The original meeting was followed by a series of meetings and phone calls, mostly initiated by the Capaldos, wherein the Capaldos asked if Bisland had any electronics for them yet (V10 45-52). Bisland testified that if Petitioner had ever said he was not interested, he would not have called him anymore (V10 130).

On the morning of the arrest, Bisland called Petitioner in the morning and said he had electronics for him. Petitioner asked the detective for a list. Bisland called Petitioner back and read a list of the items that Petitioner had previously viewed and offered to buy, with the addition of 15 camcorders (V10 52-53). Bisland informed Petitioner that the electronics were valued at \$30,000 and would cost \$9,800 (V10 52-54).

Capaldo stated that he would buy the electronics:

I (Bisland) asked him after we talked about the price if he was interested, if so, how much, because I had somebody else if he wasn't interested in all of it. And he said he wanted all of it.

(V10 54).

When Bisland arrived at the park, he observed Petitioner, a

U-Haul truck, and Mrs. Capaldo driving back and forth, and eventually parking her truck (V10 57-58). Petitioner possessed \$9,000 in cash, in his glove box (V10 59).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner was properly convicted of trafficking, because he attempted to buy stolen property with the intent of reselling it. The fact that Petitioner could not have actually completed the transaction, because there was no stolen property available for purchase, is irrelevant to Petitioner's guilt.

It is well established that the non-existence of the instrumentality of a crime is not a defense when a defendant is charged with attempt.

The evidence against Petitioner was overwhelming regardless of whether Gus Osta's statements were properly admitted. However, the opinion on review incorrectly states that statements made during a conspiracy to commit one crime cannot be admitted in a prosecution for a different crime. Once the Fifth District Court of Appeal concluded that Osta and Capaldo were involved in a conspiracy when Osta made the statements, the court should have also concluded that those statements were properly admitted under Section 90.803(18)(e).

ARGUMENT

IT IS NOT NECESSARY TO PROVE THE EXISTENCE OF STOLEN PROPERTY IN ORDER TO CONVICT UNDER SECTION 812.019(1), FLORIDA STATUTES (1993).

The certified guestion

Section 812.019(1), Florida Statutes (1993) provides:

Any person who traffics in, or endeavors to traffic in, property that he knows or should know was stolen shall be guilty of a felony of the second degree...

This Court has repeatedly defined "endeavor" as "an overt act manifesting criminal intent." In other words, an attempt. <u>State</u> <u>v. Tomas</u>, 370 So. 2d 1142,1143 (Fla. 1979); <u>State v. Allen</u>, 362 So. 2d 10,12 (Fla. 1978). <u>See also Dixon v. State</u>, 559 So. 2d 354, 356 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); <u>M.L.K. v. State</u>, 454 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

Section 812.012(7)(b)(5) defines "traffic" as

To buy, receive, possess obtain control of, or use property with the intent to sell, transfer, distribute, dispense or otherwise dispose of such property.

Section 812.028, Florida Statutes (1993), states that the following are not defenses to the crime of trafficking:

(1) Any stratagem or deception, including the use of an undercover operative or law

enforcement officer, was employed.

(2) A facility or an opportunity to engage in conduct in violation of any provision of this act was provided.

(3) Property that was not stolen was offered for sale as stolen property.

(4) A law enforcement officer solicited a person predisposed to engage in conduct in violation of any provision of ss. 812.012-812.037 in order to gain evidence against that person, provided such solicitation would not induce as ordinary law-abiding person to violate any provision of ss. 812.012-812.037.

Based on the authority cited above, Petitioner was properly convicted of trafficking, because he attempted to buy stolen property with the intent of reselling it. The fact that Petitioner could not have actually completed the transaction, because there was no stolen property available for purchase, is irrelevant to Petitioner's guilt.

In <u>State v. Rios</u>, 409 So. 2d 241 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), <u>review</u> denied, 419 So. 2d 1199 (1982), the court concluded that the crime of "endeavoring to traffic in stolen property," does not require that there actually be "property that has been the subject of criminally wrongful taking." Rather, the court concluded that even though the person who does not accomplish his goals is not actually trafficking in stolen property, "he is certainly endeavoring to do

so with requisite criminal intent." <u>Id</u> at 243. The <u>Rios</u> court reasoned:

The defense of legal impossibility has never been adopted in Florida in any criminal attempt prosecution and is generally discredited by the overwhelming weight of authority in other jurisdictions. The more appropriate inquiry in criminal attempt prosecutions should focus, we think, on the defendant's intent to commit a crime and any overt act done to effectuate this intent. A person [then] is guilty [in our view] of an attempt to commit a crime if, acting with a kind of culpability otherwise required for the commission of the crime, he purposely engages in conduct which would constitute the crime if the attendant circumstances were as he believes them to be. Model penal Code 5.01(a) (proposed ALI, § official draft, May 4, 1962).

409 So. 2d 244. The Rios court concluded:

[T]he result reached seems both sensible and fair as without a doubt a person who with requisite criminal intent traffics in property represented to him as stolen, although not in fact stolen, is engaging in criminal-type conduct, in no sense innocent in nature, which society should have a right to punish under its criminal law.

Id. See also State v. Williams, 442 So. 2d 240 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983); Dixon v. State, 559 So. 2d 354 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); Padgett v. State, 378 So. 2d 118 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980); State v. Skinner, 397 So. 2d 389 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981);

Likewise, the fact that no merchandise (stolen or otherwise)

existed at all is not a defense to this crime. Whether the undercover agent actually had a truck somewhere containing merchandise is irrelevant, because, Petitioner was guilty of the crime as soon as he arrived at the assigned site with money and a truck, after agreeing to purchase the merchandise.

It is well established that the non-existence of the instrumentality of a crime is not a defense when a defendant is charged with attempt. For example, in <u>U.S. v. Parramore</u>, 720 F.Supp 799 (N.D. Cal. 1989), the court concluded that a defendant who was charged with attempted money laundering, was not entitled to an impossibility defense merely because the government agents who were posing as cocaine traffickers did not actually have the money which the defendant had attempted to launder. The court reasoned:

It adds nothing to the proof of defendant's intent to require the government to deposit in some bank somewhere actual currency seized in the course of a drug raid. The defendant's "knowledge" and the jury's perception of it would remain unchanged. Those who innocently conduct financial transactions without the requisite knowledge are protected by the reasonable-doubt standard for proof of their intent, not by the fact that the money was real.

Id. at 801. Likewise it would have added nothing to the State's proof in the instant case to show that there was a truck somewhere

containing merchandise. <u>See also U.S. v. Contreras</u>, 950 F.2d 232 (5th Cir. 1991); <u>State v. Mitchell</u>, 170 Mo. 633, 72 S.W. 175 (1902).

In the opinion below, the Fifth District Court of Appeal recognized the weight of authority supporting its decision to affirm the case. However, the court expressed the following concern:

The wording of the [section 812.019] indicates that the legislature intended to address the evil of dealing in "stolen property." In requiring that the offender "knows or should know stolen,' [the property] was the legislature appears to be criminalizing only the act of dealing in property that was actually stolen, not the intention to do so. Had the legislature intended otherwise, the statute would not require that the individual "know" that the property was stolen, but instead would prohibit dealing in property that the individual merely "believed" or "suspected" was stolen or that he reasonably should have believed or suspected was stolen. "To know" is a different concept from "to believe' or "to suspect." One addresses the evil of commercializing stolen property; the other addresses the evil intent itself.

(A 3).

In determining that the statute was only intended to deal with crimes involving actual stolen property the court apparently overlooked section 812.028(3) where the legislature clearly conveyed its intent to address the acts and intentions of the

offenders, regardless of whether stolen property is actually involved. Moreover, In distinguishing the term "should know" from the term "believe," the court overlooked clear language contained in this Court's decision in <u>State v. Tomas</u>, 370 So. 2d 1142 (Fla. 1979). In <u>Tomas</u> this Court stated that the term "should know" is "essentially synonymous" with the more lengthy phrase, "'under such circumstances as would induce a reasonable man to **believe** that the property was stolen.'" 370 So. 2d at 1153 (emphasis added). Thus, this Court has already concluded that the requirement that a defendant "should know" that property is stolen, includes the possibility that a defendant may merely "believe" that the property is stolen.

In Conclusion, the fact that the undercover investigator did not actually have a truck somewhere containing merchandise available for sale is irrelevant to Petitioner's guilt.

The sufficiency of the evidence and admission of hearsay.

In his brief, Petitioner argues that there was insufficient evidence of his guilt, absent the hearsay statements of Gus Osta, which the Fifth District Court of Appeal determined to have been admitted in error. Respondent disagrees.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal correctly concluded that

even without the statements by Osta the evidence of Petitioner's guilt was overwhelming. As the prosecutor argued at trial, "[Osta's] testimony is just gravy. Because the important testimony came from Agent Bisland as to what took place and as to what the defendant was told and what he knew about the electronics. So the case doesn't fall on Osta's testimony." (V12 427).

However, Respondent submits that the Fifth District Court of Appeal was incorrect when it determined that Osta's statements should not have been admitted. The court concluded that the statements were not admissible because they were made to further a conspiracy which had ended prior to the instant offense. However, even if the statements were not made to further the charged crime, they should still have been admitted, because at the time the statements were made, Osta was trying to further his conspiracy with Petitioner.

Section 90.803, Florida Statutes (1993), provides exceptions to the hearsay rule. Statements that qualify under this section are admissible because they have indicia of reliability. Subsection (18)(e), creates an exception for a statement that is offered against a party when it is:

A statement made by a person who was a coconspirator of the party during the course and in furtherance of the conspiracy.

The reason for this exception is that parties who are involved in a conspiracy together can be presumed to be speaking on each other's behalf. Thus, the fact that the conspiracy that they are involved in is not a charged crime is irrelevant to the issue of whether one conspirator's statement can be attributed to the other.

In <u>Boyd v. State</u>, 389 So. 2d 642, 648 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980), the court concluded that hearsay statements of an alleged coconspirator may be offered in a case in which the crime of conspiracy is charged; in a case in which a substantive offense is charged on a theory of vicarious liability; or, theoretically, **"in any other criminal case."** In <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 610 So. 2d 1288, 1289 (Fla. 1992), this Court adopted the language of <u>Boyd</u>, when it concluded that conspiracy is **"an express or implied agreement of two or more** persons to accomplish, by concerted action, some criminal or unlawful act.'" <u>See also Tresvant v. State</u>, 396 So. 2d 733 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981).

The appellate court mistakenly relied on <u>Usher v. State</u>, 642 So. 2d 29 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), for the proposition that "section 90.803(18)(3), Florida Statutes (1993), does not permit statements made during a conspiracy to commit one crime to be admitted in prosecution for an entirely different offense not involving the

conspiracy." (A 2). In <u>Usher</u>, the court concluded that hearsay statements were not properly admitted because *inter alia* any conspiracy had ended before the statement was made. Thus, since the <u>Usher</u> statements were not made in furtherance of any conspiracy, the alleged coconspirator's statements could not be attributed to the defendant. In contrast, in the instant case, the statements were made in the course of a conspiracy, and, therefore, were attributable to Petitioner.

In Conclusion, the evidence against Petitioner was overwhelming regardless of whether Gus Osta's statements were properly admitted. However, the opinion on review incorrectly states that statements made during a conspiracy to commit one crime cannot be admitted in a prosecution for a different crime. Once the Fifth District Court of Appeal concluded that Osta and Capaldo were involved in a conspiracy when Osta made the statements, the court should have also concluded that those statements were properly admitted under Section 90.803(18)(e).

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the above and foregoing reasons and authorities cited therein, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court answer the certified question in the negative, and, affirm Petitioner's conviction.